**RECEIVED**

**Jul 24 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge  
Case No. 2017-CP-42-2217

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001319

Taiwan J. Hardy, 321387 ..... Petitioner

vs.

State of South Carolina ..... Respondent.

---

AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

J. Falkner Wilkes, 12893  
114 Whitsett Street  
Greenville, South Carolina 29601  
(864) 421-4618  
jfalcknerwilkes@gmail.com

Counsel for Petitioner

July 24, 2020.

**

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- I. Did the PCR court err in denying relief where trial counsel was ineffective for failing to properly advise client in relation to the plea offer.
- II. Did the PCR court err in denying relief where trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present an effective defense by failing to properly impeach the state's key witness.
- III. Did the PCR court err in denying relief where trial counsel failed to object to evidence of prior bad acts.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2014, Petitioner was indicted by a Spartanburg County grand jury for distribution of cocaine base. App 288 - 289. On July 22, 2015, he proceeded to trial before the Honorable Roger L. Couch and a jury. William Bean represented Petitioner; Hunter Blouin and Edward Hunter appeared on behalf of the state. The state served notice of a life sentence pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(A) in March 2015. App. 611. 7- 13. At the conclusion of the two-day trial, the jury returned a guilty verdict on the distribution of cocaine base charge. App. 185 1. 22 - App. 186 1. 4. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(A) the trial judge sentenced Hardy to life without parole. App. 19111. 11-16.

On June 26, 2017, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief. App. 193-199. It contained allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel; including claims that counsel failed to perform an investigation. App. 195. The state filed a Return, Partial Motion to Dismiss, and Motion for More Definite Statement on December 29, 2017. App. 209 - 221. Through counsel, Petitioner's application was later amended to include numerous other contentions. App. 207- 208. An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Thomas A.. Russo on March 7, 2019. App. 230. J. Falkner Wilkes represented Petitioner; Johnny E. James, Jr. appeared on behalf of the state. Petitioner and trial counsel testified at the hearing. An Order of Dismissal was filed on July 12, 2019. Taylor D. Gilliam, Office of Indigent Defense filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari on March 27, 2020. The Respondent filed a Return on May 6, 2020. On May 27, 2020 the case was transferred to the Court of Appeals. On July 21, 2020 the Petitioner engaged J. Falkner Wilkes to move the Court to allow the Petition filed by OID to be withdrawn and this Petition filed in its place.

## ARGUMENT

### I. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO PROPERLY ADVISE CLIENT IN RELATION TO THE PLEA OFFER.

The claim that a client rejected a guilty plea based on counsel's failure to properly advise is subject to a Strickland analysis. Kolle v. State, 386 S.C. 578, 590, 690 S.E.2d 73, 79 (2010). Hardy's trial counsel had been hired on all pending charges and a probation revocation. 288. Hardy first met trial counsel at the probation revocation hearing on other charges. 236. The probation matter was set for a full evidentiary hearing. 236. At their first meeting at the probation hearing trial counsel presented Hardy with a plea offer on the present charge. 236. They were in the courtroom waiting to proceed on the probation matter when trial counsel told him that there was an offer on the table from the solicitor. 237. The offer was 18 years on several charges with all other charges dismissed. 239. At that point the Hardy and trial counsel had not discussed the facts of this case. 237. There had been no discovery. 237. Hardy didn't want to accept a plea deal without discovery and seeing the evidence the state had against him. 240. Hardy testified at the PCR that it was around lunch time when trial counsel told Hardy of the plea offer. 241. Trial counsel made no effort to obtain the discovery on the pending charges or to reschedule the probation matter to allow him the opportunity to review discovery in considering the global plea offer. 242. When that plea offer was made trial counsel failed to explain that there was no viable defense to the present charge and conviction would expose Hardy to life without parole under the LWOP statute. 242. Hardy testified that if trial counsel would have gone over the evidence, the lack of defenses, and mandatory life sentence he would have taken the plea deal. 242.

Hardy received 30 months as a result of the revocation. 242. While serving the 30 months

Hardy was brought back to court several times. 243. Hardy was never told why he was repeatedly brought back. 243. He didn't see trial counsel until the third time he was brought up to court. 243. At that time trial counsel went over the discovery material with Hardy. 243. Trial counsel still did not have the undercover video. 245. Trial counsel conveyed an plea offer for 18 years but could not tell Hardy whether it would be considered a violent or non-violent offense. 244. Court ended and the plea offer expired before Hardy was told whether it would be violent or non-violent. 245. The week prior to trial in this case trial counsel conveyed a plea deal for 15 to 30. 246. Hardy was then able to view the undercover video. 247. Seeing that the video didn't show a hand to hand transaction Hardy asked trial counsel his opinion about the case. 247. Despite the overwhelming evidence of Hardy's guilt trial counsel advised Hardy that there was a 50/50 chance he would be convicted. 250. While trial counsel told Hardy at the last minute that he was going to die in prison if he was convicted, counsel never advised him that given overwhelming evidence and a lack of defenses left no reasonable doubt as to his guilt. 249. The discovery material showed overwhelming evidence of the Defendant's guilt. 250. A photograph taken from the CI's video showing Hardy with a large bag of crack in his hand during the transaction. 250. Hardy testified that had trial counsel explained the overwhelming nature of the evidence and lack of defenses Hardy would have taken the plea deal. 251. Hardy's rejection of the various plea deals was uninformed. 248-249. Had Trial counsel advised Hardy that the likelihood of his being convicted was very high Hardy would have accepted the plea deal. 252.

It is well-settled that "[a] criminal defendant has a right to effective assistance of counsel in deciding whether to accept or reject a proposed plea agreement." Toro v. Fairman, 940 F.2d 1065, 1067 (7th Cir.1991) (*citations omitted*). Indeed, "the decision whether to plead guilty or

contest a criminal charge is ordinarily the most important single decision in a criminal case ... [and] counsel may and must give the client the benefit of counsel's professional advice on this crucial decision." United States v. Gordon, 156 F.3d 376, 380 (2d Cir.1998) (*citations and internal quotation marks omitted*).

Where, as here, a petitioner raises an ineffective assistance of counsel claim arising out of the plea negotiation process, "the first half of the Strickland v. Washington test is nothing more than a restatement of the standard of attorney competence" applicable to all felony cases. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58, 106 S.Ct. 366, 88 L.Ed.2d 203 (1985). And, in this regard, it is well-settled that the Strickland attorney competence inquiry is measured in accordance with "prevailing professional norms," which require, *inter alia*, "that an attorney 'inform[ ] himself ... fully on the facts and the law' " applicable to his client's case. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052. To be sure, the Fourth Circuit has recognized that "[w]e cannot expect criminal defense lawyers to be seers, but we must demand that they at least apprise themselves of the applicable law and provide their clients with a reasonably accurate description of it." Ostrander v. Green, 46 F.3d 347, 355 (4th Cir.1995), *overruled on other grounds*, O'Dell v. Netherland, 95 F.3d 1214 (4th Cir.1996).

Here, the record reflects that trial counsel's advice to Hardy during the plea negotiation and pretrial proceedings was insufficient to enable Hardy to make a knowing and voluntary decision whether to accept the government's plea offer rather than proceed to trial. Several aspects of trial counsel's lack of proper advice support this conclusion. First, Hardy had no viable defenses to the charged offense. Despite the lack of any viable defense, trial counsel never clearly advised Hardy of this fact during the plea negotiation process. This is evident as the first plea

offer was made at Hardy's probation hearing on other charges before counsel had obtained discovery in the case. The record shows that counsel failed to immediately request that the solicitor provide discovery to allow counsel to review the strength of the government's case before allowing Hardy to reject the offer. Nor did counsel advise Hardy that he was facing mandatory life on the distribution charge under the LWOP provision. Rather than obtain the information necessary to allow Hardy to evaluate the offer counsel allowed Hardy to reject the offer and proceed on with the probation hearing. Hardy's rejection of the state's offer was clearly not informed.

In subsequent plea negotiations after having obtained discovery trial counsel allowed Hardy to believe that he had some possibility of prevailing at trial on the basis of the video not showing the actual hand off of the drugs to the confidential informant. This was due to the camera shifting for a few seconds as the confidential informant reached for the drugs. Given the testimony of the confidential informant there could be no reasonable doubt that Hardy had actually distributed the drugs to the confidential informant. Photos from the video provided clearly showed Hardy with a bag in his hand during his conversation with the confidential informant. Unless the confidential informant could be adequately impeached, the evidence was simply overwhelming. Competent counsel would have recognized that Hardy had no viable defenses to the distribution charge and would have advised Hardy accordingly during the initial plea negotiations. Competent counsel would have also timely advised Hardy that he faced mandatory life under LWOP on the distribution charge.

In the absence of trial counsel's advice that the evidence was overwhelming, Hardy continued to reject the government's plea offers and instead proceeded to trial with the erroneous

belief that he could not be convicted if the undercover video failed to show him actually handing the drugs to the confidential informant. Simply put, allowing Hardy to proceed throughout these proceedings with the erroneous belief that he had a viable defense to the distribution charge was objectively unreasonable under the Strickland ineffective assistance of counsel standard. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052.

Put simply, therefore, trial counsel failed to timely advise Hardy that a conviction was essentially unavoidable in light of the testimony of the confidential informant and the lack of any viable defenses to the distribution charge. Trial counsel's incomplete legal advice to Hardy during the plea negotiation process was therefore objectively unreasonable. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (noting that defense counsel must "inform[ ] himself ... fully on the facts and the law" applicable to his client's case). Trial counsel's incomplete advice prevented Hardy from making a knowing and voluntary decision whether to accept the government's plea offer rather than proceed to trial in this instance. The incorrect and incomplete legal advice trial counsel provided Hardy was not only material, it was central to Hardy's decision whether to accept the government's plea offer or instead proceed to trial. Hardy has therefore met the first prong of the Strickland/Hill analysis with respect to his claim that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance during the plea negotiation and pretrial proceedings.

### *Prejudice*

The record shows that Hardy was prejudiced by counsel's objectively unreasonable performance. In the plea context, the prejudice prong of the analysis "focuses on whether counsel's constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process." Hill, 474 U.S. at 59, 106 S.Ct. 366. Thus, a petitioner can satisfy the prejudice requirement by

establishing, for example, "that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." *Id.* Conversely, a petitioner can establish the requisite prejudice by demonstrating that, but for counsel's deficient performance, there is a reasonable probability that he would have entered into a plea agreement rather than proceed to trial. *See, e.g. Griffin v. United States*, 330 F.3d 733, 736 (6th Cir.2003) (recognizing that "[t]he second element of the Strickland test in the plea offer context is that there is a reasonable probability the petitioner would have pleaded guilty given competent advice").<sup>38</sup> For purposes of this analysis, "a reasonable probability" is defined as "a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052.

The Fourth Circuit has recognized that "[a]lthough [the Hill prejudice analysis] focuses the inquiry on the subjective question, the answer to that question [in the plea context] must be reached through an objective analysis." Hooper v. Garraghty, 845 F.2d 471, 475 (4th Cir.1988); *see also Ostrander*, 46 F.3d at 355 n. 12 (noting that "[o]bjective analysis of the prejudice prong is probably the only workable means of applying Hill"). Thus, to meet the Strickland/Hill prejudice requirement, a petitioner "must establish through objective evidence that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's advice, he would have accepted the plea." Toro, 940 F.2d at 1068; *see also Paters v. United States*, 159 F.3d 1043, 1047 (7th Cir.1998) (stating that "[i]n order to establish prejudice, [petitioner] must show (1) through objective evidence that (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's inadequate performance, he would have accepted the government's [plea] offer"); *compare Griffin*, 330 F.3d at 737 (stating that "[a]lthough some circuits have held that a defendant must support his own assertion that he would have accepted the offer with additional objective evidence, we in this circuit have declined

to adopt such a requirement") (*citations omitted*).

Objective factors relevant to the prejudice analysis include, for example, "the potential strength of the [government's] case ..., as a reasonable defendant would surely take [that] into account in deciding whether to accept a plea offer or proceed to trial." Ostrander, 46 F.3d at 356. A petitioner's repeated protestations of innocence throughout trial, if applicable, are also relevant to the prejudice analysis in the plea context. *See* Smith v. United States, 348 F.3d 545, 552 (6th Cir.2003) (recognizing that "[p]rotestations of innocence throughout trial are properly a factor in the trial court's analysis, however they do not, by themselves, justify summary denial of relief without an evidentiary hearing") (*citing* Cullen v. United States, 194 F.3d 401, 404–07 (2d Cir.1999)); *see also* Griffin, 330 F.3d at 738 (recognizing that a petitioner's repeated declarations of innocence throughout trial do not, by themselves, prove that the petitioner would not have accepted a guilty plea). Additionally—and most significant here—the disparity between the government's plea offer and a petitioner's sentencing exposure if convicted at trial has been recognized as "strong [objective] evidence of a reasonable probability that a properly advised defendant would have accepted a guilty plea offer, [even] despite earlier protestations of innocence." Smith, 348 F.3d at 552. 39

Here, there is ample objective evidence establishing a reasonable probability that Hardy would have accepted the government's initial offer at the probation hearing had he received complete and accurate advice from trial counsel. The government's evidence of guilt against Hardy was overwhelming. *See* Ostrander, 46 F.3d at 356 (recognizing that "the potential strength of the [government's] case" is an objective factor relevant to the prejudice analysis). Hardy was clearly interested in entering a plea as later in the negotiations he indicated to counsel that he

would enter a plea if he could get the state to go down to 15 years. Yet the most compelling objective evidence in the prejudice analysis is the extreme disparity between the state's plea offer and Hardy's sentencing exposure were he to be convicted at trial. *See Smith*, 348 F.3d at 552 (noting that a disparity in a petitioner's sentencing exposure is "strong [objective] evidence of a reasonable probability that a properly advised defendant would have accepted a guilty plea offer").

Here Hardy has met the two-part Strickland/Hill ineffective assistance of counsel standard by establishing (i) that trial counsel's advice during the plea negotiation process was objectively unreasonable and (ii) that there is a reasonable probability, based on ample objective evidence, that Hardy would have accepted the government's plea offer rather than proceed to trial had she received competent advice from trial counsel during the plea negotiation process. *See Griffin*, 330 F.3d at 736 (recognizing that "[t]he second element of the Strickland test in the plea offer context is that there is a reasonable probability the petitioner would have pleaded guilty given competent advice"). Had trial counsel rendered clear and accurate advice to Hardy during the plea negotiation process—including specifically (i) that he had no viable defenses to the charged conduct, (ii) that a conviction on the distribution charge was inevitable were he to proceed to trial, and (iii) that he faced mandatory life sentence under the LWOP statute, that there is a reasonable probability that Hardy would have accepted the government's initial or later offer rather than proceed to trial in this instance. The decision of the PCR court should therefore be reversed.

## II. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO PRESENT AN EFFECTIVE DEFENSE.

The testimony of the confidential informant was central to the state's case. Attacking her credibility was therefore essential in the defense of the case. In discovery the state provided the defense with the confidential informant's "Confidential Informant Agreement". App. 266. Initially the confidential informant agreement was used as a key part of the defense to attack the credibility of the confidential informant and offered into evidence as a defense exhibit. 266. Yet after the close of the defense's case the defense counsel realized that having entered evidence during the trial he lost last argument. App. 266. Despite it being the only foundation for the defense of the case counsel withdrew the "Confidential Informant Agreement" from evidence to re-claim last argument. App. 143-151. T. 267. In doing so counsel failed to consider the confusion that could create for the jury or the negative impact this could have on his impeachment of the confidential informant. A. 268. Trial counsel failed to request the court give the jury any explanation or instruction to the jury as to the disappearing evidence. A. 267. As a result counsel failed to effectively impeach the state's key witness.

The failure to effectively impeach a state's witness may support an ineffective assistance claim. For example, in Blackburn v. Foltz, 828 F.2d 1177 (6th Cir. 1987), *cert. denied*, 485 U.S. 970, 108 S. Ct. 1247, 99 L. Ed. 2d 445 (1988), the court faulted counsel's failure to impeach the state's identification witness with "the one obvious and only logical means of diminishing her identification testimony -- procuring the transcript of [her] previous testimony in order to impeach her with prior inconsistent statements." *Id.* at 1184.

The Seventh Circuit has found unconstitutionally deficient performance when defense

counsel failed to present witnesses who might have cast serious doubt on the prosecution's main witnesses. In Sullivan v. Fairman, 819 F.2d 1382 (7th Cir. 1987), the Seventh Circuit affirmed the granting of habeas relief on the ground that counsel failed to reasonably attempt to interview five apparently unbiased identification witnesses who made statements that were exculpatory and inconsistent with the testimony of the prosecution's witnesses on several essential matters. The Court found prejudice in that the defendant's only other defense, an alibi, was relatively weak. *Id.* at 1391-92. Here, there was no legal defense to Hardy's charge, and unchallenged the confidential informant's testimony made the evidence of guilt overwhelming. Attacking the credibility of the confidential informant was the only viable strategy in the case.

Here defense counsel failed to represent Hardy to the satisfaction of the Sixth Amendment when counsel failed to fully pursue impeachment by withdrawing additional evidence that would in all reasonable probability have cast a reasonable doubt on the testimony of the state's key witness. *See United States ex rel. McCall v. O'Grady*, 714 F. Supp. 374, 379 (N.D. Ill. 1989). This was compounded by allowing the impeaching evidence to disappear without any explanation to the jury whatsoever. Thus allowing the jury to speculate on the reason and most likely discount the defense's entire attempt to impeach the confidential informant. Counsel also has a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process. *See Powell v. Alabama*, 287 U.S., at 68–69, 53 S.Ct., at 63–64. In withdrawing critical evidence necessary for the effective impeachment of the confidential informant trial counsel fell below the standard announced in *Powell*. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2065, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). The decision of the post conviction relief court should therefore be reversed.

### **III. THE PCR COURT ERRED IN DENYING RELIEF WHERE TRAIL COUNSEL FAILED TO OBJECT TO EVIDENCE OF PRIOR BAD ACTS.**

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