STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Spartanburg County  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Roger L. Couch, Trial Judge  
The Honorable Thomas A. Russo, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001319

**RECEIVED**  
**Oct 23 2020**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

TAIWAN J. HARDY ..... Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ..... Respondent.

**RETURN TO THE AMENDED PETITION  
FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

CHELSEY F. MARTO  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar # 104191

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

In a PCR action, the petitioner bears the burden of proving allegations contained in the application. *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). When a petitioner asserts ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the petitioner must show “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that [it] cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. Ineffective assistance of counsel is governed by the Sixth Amendment, as explained by the United States Supreme Court in *Strickland v. Washington*.

Pursuant to the first prong of the *Strickland* analysis, the petitioner must prove defense counsel’s performance was deficient. *Id.* at 686; *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). To show deficiency, the petitioner must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel’s actions fell outside of the zone of “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. *See also* Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC (“The applicant has the burden of establishing his entitlement to relief by a preponderance of the evidence.”). Reasonableness is determined by the “variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how to best represent a criminal defendant,” and the scope of the reasonableness inquiry is limited to facts counsel had available at the time of representation. *Id.* at 689. “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” *Yarborough v. Gentry*, 540 U.S. 1, 5 (2003) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). Judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance remains highly deferential towards defense counsel with a strong presumption that counsel acted competently, because competent representation may be executed

in virtually “countless” ways. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688-89.

Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the petitioner so that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. The court makes this determination based upon the totality of the evidence. *Id.* at 695. Realistically, this matters “only in the rarest case” because “[t]he likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable.” *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 111-12 (2011) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697).

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 696. A court need not first determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies; if it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. *Id.* at 696-97.

**I. The post-conviction relief court properly determined that Petitioner failed to establish counsel was ineffective for failing to sufficiently advise Petitioner to accept the plea deal because Counsel told Petitioner that he would spend life in prison if he did not accept the plea deal and Counsel because the State’s case against him was incredibly strong.**

On appeal, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in denying him relief because counsel was ineffective for failing to advise Petitioner to accept the plea. Specifically, Petitioner argues that Counsel was deficient for failing to tell Petitioner how strong the State’s case against him was and that he would almost certainly be found guilty at trial and sentenced to life imprisonment. However, the PCR court properly rejected this argument, finding that Counsel

credibly testified that he told Petitioner he would most likely get convicted at trial and sentenced to life imprisonment because of the overwhelming evidence against him. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record.

Consequently, this Court should deny certiorari.

“[A]n accused is entitled to counsel’s considered and reasonable judgment.” *Berry v. State*, 381 S.C. 630, 635, 675 S.E.2d 425, 427 (2009). Further, “uncertainty concerning a potential legal challenge may well provide a defendant a catalyst in plea negotiations with the State.” *Id.* To demonstrate prejudice, “defendants must demonstrate a reasonable probability they would have accepted the earlier plea offer had they been afforded effective assistance of counsel” and “demonstrate a reasonable probability the plea would have been entered without the prosecution cancelling it or the trial court refusing to accept it, if they had authority to exercise that discretion under state law.” *Missouri v. Frye*, 566 U.S. 134, 147 (2012).

Counsel was not deficient on this ground. Specifically, Counsel credibly testified that photograph and video evidence existed involving Petitioner holding a bag of cocaine in his hand. (App. 259). Counsel testified he told Petitioner multiple times that he would likely be convicted at trial, based upon the video and photographic evidence that would be admitted to trial. (App. 259-60). Counsel stated he discussed the plea offer with Petitioner several times, they went over the discovery together, including the video and photographs. (App. 256). Counsel stated that Petitioner was served with a notice of life without parole and offered eighteen years’ imprisonment. (App. 256-57). Counsel stated that he should take the plea offer because he would be in prison for the rest of his life if convicted at trial. (App. 259-60).

Additionally, at the PCR hearing, Petitioner admitted that other than the fact that the camera turned for a fraction of a second away from the deal, no other defenses existed that

Petitioner was aware of when deciding whether or not to go to trial. (App. 251). Petitioner confirmed Counsel informed him of the plea offer consisting of a sentence between fifteen and thirty years, which was rejected by Petitioner, who wanted a maximum of fifteen years. (App. 246-47). Petitioner stated that Counsel told him that if he did not take the plea deal, he would die in prison if convicted. (App. 249).

Thus, given the testimony from both Counsel and Petitioner, Counsel was not deficient. Counsel testified that he told Petitioner that he would spend his life in prison if convicted. Petitioner confirmed this at the PCR hearing. Counsel also stated there was strong video and photographic evidence incriminating in nature and taken by the confidential informant while the drug deal was in process. Petitioner was shown this evidence while considering the plea. Counsel could do no more to encourage Petitioner to take the plea and, consequently, cannot be found deficient simply because Petitioner decided he was unwilling to accept the offer.

Further, concerning prejudice, Petitioner's decision to reject the plea offer is seemingly based on not the likelihood of success at trial, but on his dissatisfaction of being offered a plea deal with a maximum sentence of thirty years. Petitioner, seeking at most half of that time, was unwilling to accept a plea deal consisting of anything more than fifteen years' imprisonment, regardless of the likelihood of success at trial. Thus, the decision to decline the offer was rooted in Petitioner's desire for a better plea deal; not because of any deficiency on the part of Counsel for failure to warn of the low likelihood of success at trial. *See Collins v. State*, 422 S.C. 250, 262-63, 810 S.E.2d 871, 877 (2018) (finding applicant failed to establish prejudice because he offered no testimony indicating he would have accepted the plea absent Counsel's deficient performance). Thus, because Petitioner has failed to show Counsel was deficient or that he was prejudiced by any alleged deficiency, relief should be denied on this ground.

**II. The post-conviction relief court properly determined that Petitioner failed to establish counsel was ineffective for failing to establish a proper defense when he strategically withdrew the sole defense exhibit after it was read to the jury to ensure Petitioner could maintain the last argument, which Counsel reasonably concluded was more helpful to the defense than refusing to withdraw the exhibit.**

On appeal, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in denying him relief because Counsel was allegedly ineffective for withdrawing the defense's sole exhibit at trial. However, the PCR court properly rejected this argument, finding that withdrawing the exhibit was a strategic decision that allowed the information to be admitted into trial, while ensuring that Counsel could have the last argument, which Counsel determined was more helpful to Petitioner's case than keeping the exhibit in evidence after it was read to the jury. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record. Consequently, this Court should deny certiorari.

“Where trial counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain trial strategy, counsel will not be deemed ineffective.” *McKnight v. State*, 378 S.C. 33, 43, 661 S.E.2d 354, 359 (2008) (citing *Roseboro v. State*, 317 S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1995)). Further, “[w]hen counsel focuses on some issues to the exclusion of others, there is a strong presumption that he [or she] did so for tactical reasons rather than through sheer neglect.” *Yarborough v. Gentry*, 540 U.S. 1, 5 (2003) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). Additionally, “mere speculation . . . cannot, by itself, satisfy the applicant's burden of showing prejudice.” *See Glover v. State*, 318 S.C. 496, 499, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995).

At the PCR hearing, Counsel stated he decided to withdraw the exhibit because the jury had already heard the exhibit, which impeached the State's sole witness. (App. 267). Counsel stated he thought withdrawing the exhibit probably would not have impacted how the jury viewed the impeachment of the witness and stated he thought it would be more helpful to Petitioner's case to have the last argument. (App. 267). Additionally, he wavered when asked if

he thought a curative instruction would have helped the jury, but ultimately testified that he thought a curative instruction could have further confused the jury or indicated to the jury that they should disregard that piece of evidence altogether, which would have been harmful to Petitioner's case. (App. 268-69). Thus, this tactical move allowed Counsel to publish the piece of evidence to the jury while still keeping last word. This is an inherently strategic decision and, thus, Counsel was not deficient for exercising it.

Regarding prejudice, Petitioner has done no more than merely speculate as to what impact, if any, this would have had at trial. Thus, Petitioner has not met his burden of proof in establishing prejudice. Thus, because Petitioner cannot satisfy either prong of the *Strickland* test, this court should deny relief on this ground.

**III. The post-conviction relief court properly determined that Petitioner failed to establish counsel was ineffective for failing to object to an allegedly prejudicial comment by the State's witness because Counsel utilized strategic judgement when refusing to object at trial and Petitioner was not prejudiced as a result.**

On appeal, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in denying him relief because Counsel was ineffective for failure to object to a comment made by one of the State's witnesses about how he and Petitioner "used to do drugs together", which Petitioner alleges was damaging to Petitioner's case at trial. Petitioner alleges this led him to being found guilty, despite the already overwhelming evidence of guilt. However, the PCR court properly rejected this argument, finding that Counsel had a valid strategy behind his decision not to object and Petitioner was not prejudiced by Counsel's strategic decision not to object. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record. Consequently, this Court should deny certiorari.

Whether failure to object constitutes deficient performance generally hinges on whether or not a valid trial strategy was utilized. *See Thompson v. State*, 423 S.C. 235, 241, 814 S.E.2d

487, 490 (2018) (finding Counsel was deficient because the failure to object was not related to an otherwise valid trial strategy); *Stokes v. State*, 308 S.C. 546, 548, 419 S.E.2d 778, 779 (1992) (where “counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel”).

Counsel did not act deficiently. At the evidentiary hearing, Counsel stated that he used his strategic judgement at trial, stating he was valuing the damage to the confidential informant’s credibility over the potential damage to his client. (App. 265). Counsel stated that he failed to renew the objection because there was a video involving Petitioner possessing drugs, testimony to that affect and he thought it would be beneficial to Petitioner to allow that testimony in because he thought evidence of the informant’s drug use would negatively impact her credibility. (App. 265).

This strategy was executed at trial. During cross-examination of the witness, Counsel confirmed that the informant is a crack cocaine addict and has been for thirteen years. (App. 75). Additionally, the witness testified that she has never bought or possessed drugs for something other than personal use or assisting law enforcement. (App. 76). Further, the witness testified she assisted law enforcement or “work off charges”. (App. 76-80). Thus, a valid trial strategy was executed at trial and, thus, Counsel was not deficient.

Even if Counsel was deficient, Petitioner was not prejudiced by Counsel’s alleged deficiency. Photograph and video evidence existed involving Petitioner holding a bag of cocaine in his hand. (App. 63, 259). Other than the fact that the camera turned for a fraction of a second away from the deal, no other defenses existed that Petitioner was aware of when deciding to go to trial. (App. 251). After becoming aware of the video and photograph evidence, Counsel testified he told Petitioner multiple times that, in his opinion, he would likely be convicted at

trial, based upon the video and photograph evidence that would be admitted to trial. (App. 63, 259-60). Petitioner confirmed he was told this by Counsel. (App. 253). Thus, even if Counsel was deficient, Petitioner was not prejudiced by this deficiency because the evidence against Petitioner was overwhelming, no viable defense existed, and the probability of conviction was all but certain. Objecting to this line of questioning would not have made a difference at trial. Consequently, Petitioner's claim is without merit and the appeal should be denied.

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated above, this court should deny certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's findings that Petitioner had effective assistance of counsel. However, if this Court decides to grant the petition of writ of certiorari, Respondent respectfully requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.